Running head: WORKING ALLIANCE DISCREPANCY IN ALCOHOL TREATMENT

PATIENT-THERAPIST WORKING ALLIANCE RATING DISCREPANCIES PREDICTING

ALCOHOL TREATMENT PARTICIPATION AND CLINICAL OUTCOMES

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY

OF

THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF APPLIED AND PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGY

OF

RUTGERS, THE STATE UNIVERSITY OF NEW JERSEY

BY

MICHAEL INDENBAUM RODRIGUEZ

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE

REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PSYCHOLOGY

NEW BRUNSWICK, NEW JERSEY

MAY 2020

APPROVED:

Patrick R. Clifford, PhD

Christine M. Davis, PhD

Eun-Young Mun, PhD

DEAN:

Francine Conway, PhD

Copyright 2020 by Michael I. Rodriguez

ABSTRACT

Client and therapist perceptions regarding their therapeutic working alliance have been shown to be independently predictive of treatment outcomes. The extent to which patients and therapists agree or disagree about the quality of the therapeutic relationship may be a distinct variable from either individual's perspective of the quality of the relationship. Recent studies of alliance have explored patient and therapist congruence and discrepancy regarding measurements of the alliance and the degree to which they are predictive of treatment outcomes. This study centers on an investigation of patient-therapist discrepancy in evaluations of the therapeutic relationship as a predictor of treatment participation and outcomes (i.e., alcohol use, alcohol-related problems). To achieve study aims, secondary data analyses were conducted using 741 participants from the outpatient sample of Project MATCH. To examine the extent to which patient-therapist Working Alliance Inventory (WAI) rating discrepancies predicted posttreatment outcomes and treatment participation, a difference score was computed and multiple regression analyses conducted. To further examine patient-therapist WAI discrepancy as a predictor of posttreatment outcomes and treatment participation, both patient and therapist WAI scores were categorized as high or low alliance based on a median split, yielding a 2 by 2 study design (therapist score vs. patient score; low vs. high). Study hypotheses based on this 2 by 2 study design were tested using four analyses of covariance (ANCOVAs). Working alliance discrepancy was not found to be a significant predictor of posttreatment alcohol use behavior, alcohol-related negative consequences, or treatment participation when controlling for baseline measures. No significant interaction effect was found for the combination of patient and therapist alliance levels on posttreatment outcomes when controlling for baseline measures, although significant main

effects (p < .05) were detected. The results of the current study do not support the hypothesis that alliance discrepancy accounts for differences in treatment outcomes and treatment participation. Limitations of the study and future directions for research examining alliance discrepancy are discussed.

Keywords: Alcohol treatment, working alliance, congruence, discrepancy, Project MATCH

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation would not have been possible without the support and encouragement of my Dissertation Committee, Dr. Patrick Clifford, Dr. Christine Davis, and Dr. Eun-Young Mun. Thank you so much for your guidance, your statistical knowledge, and your patience as I worked towards the completion of this study. Many thanks are also due to the faculty and staff of the Graduate School of Applied and Professional Psychology for valuable lessons, supervision, and guidance.

I also wish to express my heartfelt gratitude and love to my friends and family for all of their tireless assistance and expressions of confidence. Finally, and especially, I would like to thank my fiancée, Kimberly Nessel, for her unending patience and emotional support during this process. I do not have words to adequately describe my deep gratitude for all you have provided me, though I hope to show you in the years to come.

WORKING ALLIANCE DISCREPANCY IN ALCOHOL TREATMENT 5

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESviii
CHAPTER
INTRODUCTION1
Current Understanding of Working Alliance
Working Alliance and Treatment Outcomes
Working Alliance Congruence
Project MATCH Alliance Studies9
Study Aims and Hypotheses
Discrepancy as a predictor13
Discrepancy direction14
METHODS16
The Parent Study: Project MATCH
Participants
Procedure
Measures
Working alliance inventory
Drinking history and drinking outcomes

Alcohol-related negative consequences	
Treatment participation	
Data Analysis	
Operationalizing working alliance discrepancy	
Preliminary analyses	24
Primary analyses	25
RESULTS	
DISCUSSION	
REFERENCES	
TABLES	45
FIGURES	49

WORKING ALLIANCE DISCREPANCY IN ALCOHOL TREATMENT 7

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Descriptive Information on Participants pg. 44
Table 2: Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations for Drinking Behavior,
Related Problems, Treatment Participation, with Working Alliance Inventory (WAI)
Discrepancy at Baseline and 3-Monthspg. 45
Table 3: Multiple Regression Analyses for Working Alliance Inventory (WAI)
Discrepancy Predicting Drinking Behavior, Related Problems, and Treatment
Participation at 3-Months While Controlling for Baseline Measurespg. 46
Means, Standard Deviations, and n for Drinking Behavior, Related Problems,
and Treatment Participation, as a Function of Levels of Therapist Alliance and
Levels of Patient Alliance, Using Baseline Measures as Covariatespg. 47
Table 5: Analyses of Covariance (ANCOVA) for Drinking Behavior, Related Problems,
and Treatment Participation as a Function of Levels of Therapist Alliance and
Levels of Patient Alliance, Using Baseline Measures as Covariatespg. 48

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Median-Split Working Alliance Congruence Groupspg. 49

Introduction

The influence of the patient-therapist relationship on the outcomes of psychotherapy has been a component of the psychology zeitgeist for many years. For example, as early as 1913, Freud explored differences between neurotic transference and the constructive or positive feelings that the patient had toward the therapist (Freud, 1913). The importance of a positive therapeutic relationship has been noted in the work of Carl Rogers and his associates (Rogers, 1957). In this regard, Rogers posited that the major component of therapy that allowed for patient improvement was the therapist's ability to be empathic. Further support for the importance of a positive patient-therapist relationship was provided by Greenson (1965) who posited that success in therapy hinged upon a positive collaboration between patient and therapist and coined the term 'working alliance' to reflect this relationship. Interest in the working alliance in the following decades increased, along with the view that "both the therapist and the patient make important contributions to the formation of an effective therapeutic partnership" (Horvath & Symonds, 1991, p.1). According to Horvath and Symonds (1991), an accurate representation of the therapeutic relationship cannot be assessed solely through examination of either the patient's or the therapist's perceptions, but rather must take into account the collaborative aspects of the relationship.

Research during the 1970s and 80s began to suggest that psychotherapy, regardless of theoretical basis, was generally effective (e.g., Bergin & Lambert, 1978; Smith, Glass, & Miller, 1980; Stiles, Shapiro, & Elliot, 1986). Debate about the relative effectiveness of specific psychotherapies, however, continues unabated and has resulted in a search for common factors across therapies that can explain therapeutic outcomes distinct from theoretical orientation. For example, Lambert and Bergin (1994) identified many elements common across psychotherapies, such as warmth, trust, empathy, decreased sense of isolation, insight, affective experiencing, cognitive learning, feedback, reconceptualization of problems, mastery experiences, and reality testing. Therapeutic working alliance is one such common factor that may help to explain similar therapeutic benefits derived from treatments with disparate theoretical underpinnings, and is the focus of this dissertation research.

Current Understanding of Working Alliance

During the 1970's and 1980's, several research groups focusing on working alliance emerged, each with their own tools to measure the construct. Measures to assess the patienttherapist relationship were developed at the University of Pennsylvania (Luborsky, 1976), Vanderbilt University (Gomes-Schwartz, 1978), the Langley Porter Institute (Marmar, Horowitz, Weiss, & Marziali, 1986; Marziali, Marmar, & Krupnick, 1981), and the University of British Columbia (Horvath & Greenberg, 1989). Each of these measures arose from a somewhat different definition of working alliance, its role in therapy, and the selected source (i.e., patient, therapist, or observer). Despite differences in measurement tools, the correlations between these various instruments are generally good and suggest they assess similar underlying processes (Cecero et al., 2001; Fenton et al., 2001; Hatcher & Barends, 1996; Stiles et al., 2002; Tichenor & Hill, 1989). For example, Cecero et al. (2001) compared the California Psychotherapy Alliance Scale (CALPAS; Marmar & Gaston, 1988), the Penn Helping Alliance Rating Scale (Penn; Luborsky et al., 1983), The Vanderbilt Therapeutic Alliance Scale (VTAS; Hartley & Strupp, 1983), and the Working Alliance Inventory therapist and client scales (WAI-T, WAI-C; Horvath & Greenberg, 1986) and observer scale (WAI-O; Tichenor and Hill, 1989). Using

Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients, they demonstrated that all of the observer-rated measures (CALPAS, Penn, VTAS, and WAI-O) were significantly correlated with each other (ranging from .45 to .90), with the highest correlation between the Vanderbilt and WAI-O. Regarding the relationship between the client-and therapist-rated instruments (WAI-C and WAI-T) and the four observer-rated instruments, the WAI-C was not significantly related to any of the observer-rated measures. Similarly, the WAI-T had significant but lower correlations with the Penn, the VTAS, and the CALPAS, but was not significantly correlated with the WAI-O (Cecero et al., 2001).

Although there are a number of different definitions and constructions of working alliance, most definitions emphasize similar key points. A good working alliance is defined by a collaborative relationship between the patient and therapist consisting of an emotional bond between them, and shared expectations of the tasks and goals of treatment (Horvath & Symonds, 1991).

Working Alliance and Treatment Outcomes

A number of meta-analyses have been conducted over the years in an attempt to empirically review the association between therapeutic alliance and treatment outcomes, and have broadly found a statistically significant but moderate association. In a meta-analysis by Horvath, Del Re, Flückiger, and Symonds (2011), the aggregate effect size for 190 independent alliance/outcome associations was r = .275 (significant at the p < .0001 level), adjusted for sample size and intercorrelation among outcome measures. Other meta-analyses have found similar consistent but moderate associations for patient and therapist perceptions of the alliance, ranging from .21 to .26 (Horvath & Bedi, 2002; Horvath & Symonds, 1991; Martin, Garske, & Davis et al., 2000). Across the research, this association does not appear to be a function of the type of therapy treatment, the length of treatment, whether the research is published, the number of participants in the study, who rated the outcome, or who rated the alliance.

Although both therapist and patient perceptions of the alliance have each been shown to be associated with treatment outcome, it has been found that these perceptions are only moderately related to one another (e.g., Marmarosh & Kivlighan, 2012; Tryon, Blackwell, & Hammel, 2007). Evidence regarding the unique contribution of the patients' and therapists' reports to the association between alliance and outcome is less clear, as previous studies seldom included therapist and patient alliance ratings in the same analysis (Kivlighan, 2007). The findings of studies that examined the unique contribution of each perspective to treatment outcomes were mixed, some showing that both patient and therapist alliance have a clearly marked effect on outcome (e.g. Bachelor, 2013), others that neither can predict outcome (e.g. Knuuttila, Kuusisto, Saarnio, & Nummi, 2012) or that only one of them can (e.g., Gaston, Marmar, Gallagher, & Thompson, 1991; Huppert et al., 2014; Marcus, Kashy, & Baldwin, 2009).

Across years of theoretical refinement and research, the qualities of the therapeutic relationship that define the working alliance have gradually shifted from patient driven, to therapist driven, to patient-therapist collaboration. This aspect of collaboration and mutual agreement in the goals of therapy is reflected in the scales constructed to measure working alliance. Nevertheless, the majority of early published research studies that assessed the association between working alliance and treatment outcomes used patient scores and therapist scores as two distinct variables (i.e., patients and therapists each making independent judgments about the perceived quality of the relationship). In their meta-analysis, Horvath and colleagues found that 112 out of 175 independent effect sizes between alliance and outcome were based on the point of view of the patient (Horvath et al., 2011).

Working Alliance Congruence

One area that has come to the forefront of working alliance research in recent years is that of patient-therapist *congruence* (also referred to as *convergence* or *agreement* in the literature) regarding the assessment of therapeutic working alliance and its association with treatment participation and treatment outcomes. Congruence, in this context, is a measure of the degree to which each member of the therapeutic dvad agrees (or disagrees) about the quality of the relationship. The available instruments for assessing therapeutic working alliance measure either the patient's or the therapist's individual perspective regarding the quality of the relationship, and it is these independent measurements that are more frequently studied for their association with therapeutic outcomes. As an interpersonal construct, examining the shared aspects of the alliance (i.e., alliance agreement) may elucidate the potential role of the alliance with regards to outcomes (Elvins & Green, 2008). For example, one might expect that if the therapist and patient both believe that a good alliance exists, the outcome of therapy would be favorable. On the other hand, if there is substantial disagreement about whether or not there is a working alliance, or if both agree that the working alliance is low or negligible, one might expect premature termination of treatment and/or less than favorable outcomes. These expectations are part of several theoretical conceptualizations of the role of the alliance in psychotherapy that consider alliance agreement to be an important aspect of the working alliance and critical for the

success of treatment (Bordin, 1979; Gaston et al., 1995; Pepinsky & Karst, 1964; Safran & Muran, 2000).

Studies investigating alliance congruence have been typically operationalized in one of two ways: either as a correlation between patients' and therapists' alliance ratings over two or more sessions, or in the case of discrepancy, as the average difference between these ratings. A meta-analysis conducted by Tryon, Blackwell, & Hammel (2007) found 32 studies applying a correlational definition of congruence and 44 studies in which the difference score between patients' and therapists' alliance ratings was used as a measure of discrepancy. With regard to the correlation model, they found a moderate aggregated effect of r = .36. With regard to the difference score model, they found a mean difference between patient and therapist ratings of d = .63. In examining this mean difference, they also detected the presence of moderators, and concluded that clients with substance abuse problems and those with mild disturbances tended to have larger patient-therapist rating discrepancies than did clients with moderate disturbances without substance abuse concerns and more severely disturbed clients (Tryon et al., 2007).

So far, results on the association between patient-therapist agreement of alliance ratings and treatment outcomes are mixed. Some studies have reported finding evidence of a significant association between alliance agreement and outcome (e.g., Bachelor, 2013; Fjermestad et al., 2016; Rozmarin et al., 2008). Rozmarin et al. (2008) investigated the profile similarity between patients' and therapists' weekly assessments of the short form of the Working Alliance Inventory (WAI-S; Tracey & Kokotovic, 1989) as an indicator of congruence. They found this correlation to be significantly associated with greater pre- to post-therapy change on measures of interpersonal problems and target complaints. This association was twice as strong as the respective associations of patients' and therapists' alliance ratings with outcome. On the other hand, other studies did not find such an association (e.g. Compare et al., 2016; Fitzpatrick, Iwakabe, & Stalikas, 2005; Langhoff, Baer, Zubraegel, & Linden, 2008; Marmarosh & Kivlighan, 2012; Zandberg, Skriner, & Chu, 2015). Fitzpatrick et al. (2005) found no relationship between either absolute or relative discrepancy of WAI scores on session impact. Meier and Donmall (2006) also used an absolute difference score to examine client and counselor working alliance agreement. They found no relationship between this measure of agreement and whether clients were retained in treatment.

A small number of more recent studies have used sophisticated statistical analyses to closely examine the potential effects of agreement between patients' and therapists' working alliance scores on treatment outcomes. For example, Marmarosh and Kivlighan (2012) used polynomial regression and response surface analysis in addition to relative and absolute difference scores to examine the relationship between alliance agreement on patient rated session smoothness and session depth, and symptom reduction. They found greater reported session smoothness and greater symptom reduction when patients' and therapists' perceptions of the alliance were in agreement and high than when they were in agreement and low. With regards to alliance disagreement, however, they found that session smoothness was highest when clients' ratings of working alliance were higher than therapists' ratings and lowest when therapists' ratings of working alliance were higher than patients' ratings (Marmarosh and Kivlighan, 2012). Most surprisingly, Marmarosh and Kivlighan found that the greater the disagreement on the alliance, the greater the symptom improvement. This finding is in contrast with the available literature. They speculated that there may have been a selection bias favoring those patients that completed treatment, and that even though there may be a disagreement in the perception of the alliance at the early phase of the treatment, the therapist may have taken actions to remedy misunderstandings over time (Marmarosh & Kivlighan, 2012).

Zilcha-Mano, Snyder, & Silberschatz, (2017) investigated the associations between alliance agreement and symptom reduction with response surface analysis. Alliance agreement in one session was used as a predictor of symptoms 1 month later during the course of cognitiverelational psychodynamic treatment. Similar to Marmarosh and Kivlighan (2012), they found that symptom levels were lower when patients' and therapists' perceptions of the alliance were in agreement and that the alliance was good compared to when they were in agreement and the alliance was moderate or poor. However, they also found lower subsequent symptomatic levels when both the therapist and the patient agreed that the alliance was poor, compared to when the two were in agreement and the alliance was moderate (Zilcha-Mano, Snyder, & Silberschatz, 2017). They interpreted this finding as indicating that agreement on a moderate level of alliance may be the least conducive to therapeutic action, as it neither provides the collaborative atmosphere of strong agreement of a strong alliance, nor the opportunity to address ruptures in a strong agreement on poor alliance. With regard to disagreement, the authors neither found that the amount of disagreement had any association with symptom impairment, nor that either one of the two perspectives contributed more or less to subsequent symptom distress (Zilcha-Mano, Snyder, & Silberschatz, 2017).

This dissertation study examined patient-therapist discrepancy regarding the quality of the therapeutic relationship as a predictor of treatment outcomes (e.g., alcohol use, alcohol related problems) and treatment participation via secondary data analyses using data from Project MATCH, a large multi-site study that examined hypotheses specific to the matching of patients to alcohol use disorder (AUD) treatments based on patient characteristics (Project MATCH Research Group, 1997). Specifically, this dissertation study was intended to extend the work of previous research looking at the effect of discrepancy between patients' and therapists' working alliance on treatment participation and clinical outcomes. In the context of evaluating the association between working alliance discrepancy and treatment outcomes, the Project MATCH data set has a number of strengths. These strengths include three different standardized treatments (i.e., cognitive-behavioral, motivation enhancement, and twelve step facilitation); a large group of therapists (N = 80) who were trained and certified to administer the respective treatments; a large clinical outpatient sample (N = 952); and an extensive assessment battery administered before, during, and after treatment. In addition, few studies have examined the impact of working alliance congruence or discrepancy on outcomes in a sample of patients seeking treatment for alcohol use, and therefore the aim of this study was to expand the available literature to include this population.

Although Project MATCH consisted of two parallel study arms (i.e., an 'outpatient arm' that recruited from the community and an 'aftercare arm' that recruited directly from rehabilitation programs), only outpatient study arm data was used for this dissertation because outpatient treatment has become the more common modality for AUD treatment. In addition, prior research using Project MATCH data has shown that ratings of therapeutic alliance by Project MATCH aftercare patients or their therapists broadly did not predict treatment participation or drinking outcomes, with a single exception out of multiple variables tested (Connors, Carroll, DiClemente, Longabaugh, & Donovan, 1997). Additional studies of the

therapeutic alliance which used the Project MATCH data included a study of patient and therapist characteristics that predict alliance ratings, and two studies that examined moderators of the relationship between alliance and outcomes (Connors et al., 2000; Ilgen, McKellar, Moos, & Finney, 2006; Ilgen, Tiet, Finney, Moos, 2006).

Project MATCH Alliance Studies

Project MATCH study investigators identified 10 primary and 11 secondary patient attributes that served as the basis for analyzing matching effects (for a description of the study design, see Longabaugh & Wirtz, 2001). On the whole, Project MATCH failed to confirm the proposed treatment matching hypotheses, with only a few exceptions (Longabaugh & Wirtz, 2001). One explanation posited for the failure to find consistent evidence of patient-treatment matching effects was the possibility of interference due to factors common across the three treatment conditions (Cooney, Babor, DiClemente, & Del Boca, 2003). Working therapeutic alliance is one such factor, and has been shown to contribute to treatment outcomes.

Connors and colleagues (1997) initiated research on the working alliance in Project MATCH and were the first to study the independent contribution of working alliance to treatment participation and alcohol use outcomes. In the outpatient sample, ratings of the working alliance as measured by the Working Alliance Inventory (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1989), whether provided by the patient or therapist, predicted both greater treatment engagement and positive drinking-related outcomes during the treatment and 12-month posttreatment periods (Connors, et al., 1997). In contrast, ratings of therapeutic alliance reported by aftercare patients did not predict treatment participation or drinking outcomes. Therapists' ratings of therapeutic alliance in the aftercare sample, however, were predictive of patient abstinence (i.e., percentage of days abstinent) during treatment and follow-up, but not other treatment outcomes (Connors, et al., 1997). Although the reasons for aftercare patients' therapeutic alliance ratings not predicting treatment outcomes to the same extent found among the outpatient sample are unclear, it was noted that the aftercare patients had a greater degree of previous alcoholism involvement, which may have eclipsed any effect of the working alliance. In addition, the aftercare patients had already completed a course of intensive alcoholism treatment, which may have resulted in a preselection bias specific to compliance or motivation. This earlier work regarding the prediction of treatment outcomes based on therapeutic working alliance provides the groundwork for this dissertation, and suggests that although both patient and therapist ratings predict treatment outcomes, in some specific scenarios therapist ratings may be more predictive than patient ratings.

Connors et al. (2000) also looked into whether patient and therapist characteristics were predictive of patient and/or therapist assessments of working alliance. Predictions of the working alliance in alcoholism treatment (as rated by the patient and the therapist) were examined in light of a range of potentially relevant factors, including patient demographics, drinking history, current drinking, current psychosocial functioning and therapist demographics. Using regression analyses, it was found that outpatients' ratings of therapeutic alliance were positively predicted by patient age, motivational readiness to change, socialization, level of perceived social support and therapist age, and were negatively predicted by patient educational level, level of depression, and meaning seeking. Therapist alliance ratings among the outpatient sample were positively predicted by the patient being female and by level of overall alcohol involvement, severity of alcohol dependence, negative consequences of alcohol use, and readiness to change. Among aftercare patients, ratings of alliance were positively predicted by readiness to change, socialization and social support, and were negatively predicted by level of depression. Therapist ratings of the alliance with the aftercare sample were positively predicted by the patient being female and therapist educational level, and were negatively predicted by pretreatment drinks per drinking day.

Ilgen, Tiet, and colleagues (2006) hypothesized that patient self-efficacy regarding abstinence from alcohol would moderate the effects of therapeutic alliance. It was reasoned that patients who have lower evaluations of their self-efficacy would more likely be influenced by external factors like their therapist. Specifically, they hypothesized that a stronger working alliance would be especially beneficial for patients with low self-efficacy. Their results with the Project MATCH dataset demonstrated a significant interaction between the therapists' ratings of therapeutic alliance with patient self-efficacy in predicting percentage of days abstinence and drinks per drinking day at 1-year post treatment follow-up (Ilgen, Tiet, et al., 2006).

Ilgen, McKellar, and colleagues (2006) also looked into possible links between motivation, working therapeutic alliance, and treatment outcomes. After controlling for baseline alcohol use and treatment type, they found that a high-quality therapeutic relationship (as measured by the therapist) was more strongly associated with reductions in alcohol use among patients with low motivation than among those with high motivation, and concluded that a strong positive therapeutic relationship could mitigate the negative effect of low motivation on posttreatment alcohol use.

Taken together, these studies illustrate the overall importance of working therapeutic alliance in AUD treatment, as well as how patient or therapist evaluations of working alliance

interact with motivation or self-efficacy to produce positive outcomes. The regressions by Connors and colleagues (2000) and the interaction effects reported by Ilgen, Tiet, and colleagues (2006) indicate that motivational readiness to change, self-efficacy, patient age, patient gender, and patient education level are all potentially relevant variables that might influence the relationship between therapeutic alliance and treatment outcomes. What has not been demonstrated is how differences between patients and their therapists in their evaluation of the alliance might predict outcomes.

Study Aims and Hypotheses

This dissertation was aimed at obtaining a better understanding of therapist and patient perceptions of their therapeutic working alliance (i.e., the relationship formed between the patient and the therapist) as they are associated with treatment participation and related clinical outcomes among an AUD treatment sample. Specifically, this study was conducted to examine the extent to which discrepancy between patients and therapists regarding the therapeutic working alliance predicts AUD treatment participation, alcohol use, and alcohol-related negative consequences. Additionally, this research attempted to compare the clinical outcomes and treatment participation of participant groups based on different arrangements of the direction of the discrepancy.

Discrepancy as a predictor. One might expect that if the therapist and patient both believe that a good alliance exists, the outcome of therapy would be favorable. When the patient and therapist agree that the working alliance is strong, both are stating that they know the goals of therapy, that they know what they must do to reach those goals, and that they are emotionally bonded. In essence, the patient would have a therapist who is behaving in ways that match the

client's perception of the relationship, so the therapist would more likely be effective in delivering therapeutic strategies and there should be increased coordination and collaboration (Maramosh & Klivighan, 2012). In contrast, if there was agreement between patient and therapist that the alliance is weak, this could lead to less favorable outcomes and/or premature termination of treatment. In such a scenario, however, the therapist would be aware of the weak alliance and could take actions to address it by increasing support, focusing on rapport-building, or clarifying the goals and tasks of therapy (Safran, Muran, & Eubanks-Carter, 2011). Despite a broadly weak alliance, the therapist behavior of addressing the alliance rupture would continue to fit the patient's perceptions, allowing the therapist to be effective in delivering therapeutic strategies in order to increase their coordination.

Contrast this scenario with one of disagreement about the strength of the working alliance. If there was substantial discrepancy between patients and therapists about whether or not there is a working alliance, one might expect premature termination of treatment and/or less than favorable outcomes. The patient and therapist would have different understandings of the relationship and will be operating under different assumptions. Events in the therapy would be likely to be interpreted differently by the therapist and the patient, making them less able to coordinate their efforts (Bashshur et al., 2011). Regardless of the direction of the disagreement (either the patient or therapist perceiving the relationship more favorably than the other), the treatment would be likely to suffer to some degree. Either the therapist would use time better spent with the tasks of therapy in an attempt to address perceived relationship problems when the client is satisfied with the therapy, or the therapist would fail to perceive the discrepancy and/or rupture, and believing the relationship to be secure, do nothing (Marmarosh & Kivlighan, 2012).

Regardless of the overall quality of the relationship, agreement between the patient and therapist would be likely to be associated with better outcomes. The current study therefore hypothesized that a greater patient-therapist working alliance discrepancy score would be associated with poorer treatment participation, greater alcohol use, and greater alcohol related negative consequences (hypothesis 1).

Discrepancy direction. Whether patient-therapist working alliance discrepancy can predict treatment participation or clinical outcomes was not the only factor of interest for this study. It is also possible that particular combinations of discrepancy may have a differential association with outcomes. When patients and therapists disagree about the quality of the relationship, are the perceptions of the working alliance by either patients or therapists more accurate as a predictor of eventual patient outcome? In other words, how does the direction of the disagreement (i.e., patients rating the alliance more favorably than their therapists, or therapists rating the alliance more favorably than their patients) relate to patient outcomes?

Safran and Muran's (1996) process model for addressing working alliance ruptures was used as the theoretical basis to determine the hypothesis regarding the effects of the direction of working alliance discrepancy in the current study. Broadly, the model states that the therapist must first recognize that a rupture has occurred and then take steps to address it (Safran & Muran, 1996). It is plausible that disagreement about the working alliance indicates or represents a rupture in the relationship (Marmarosh & Kivlighan, 2012). Although the rationale for the first hypothesis above suggested that any disagreement about the alliance would be likely to cause some negative impact on the therapy process and thereby outcomes, when directly comparing the two possible disagreement scenarios, it is feasible that one could be more likely to have negative consequences than the other. If the patient perceived the working alliance as weak in comparison to their therapist, the therapy would be more likely to suffer substantive setbacks than the reverse. In the case that the patient perceived a weaker working alliance than the therapist, the patient would not see the therapist as a collaborator, and would be less likely to engage fully in the treatment. The therapist would be unlikely to take the necessary actions to address the rupture because they do not perceive the rupture in the first place. By contrast, if the therapist perceived the working alliance as weak but the patient perceived it as relatively strong, the likely consequence would be that the therapist chooses to spend time away from therapy tasks to focus on unnecessary alliance rupture interventions (Marmarosh & Kivlighan, 2012; Zilcha-Mano, et al.,2017). For the current study, it was therefore hypothesized that in the case of discrepant alliance ratings by patients and their therapists, positive patient evaluation of the alliance will supersede lower therapist evaluation, resulting in more treatment participation and more positive treatment outcomes in comparison. Specifically, the patient group characterized by patients who rated the alliance as high when their therapists rated it low would have greater treatment participation, less alcohol use, and fewer alcohol-related negative consequences when compared to the patient group characterized by patients who rated the alliance as low when their therapists rate it high (hypothesis 2).

Methods

The Parent Study: Project MATCH

In 1989, the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) initiated Project MATCH, a multisite clinical trial conducted across nine United States cities that was designed to investigate patient-treatment matching hypotheses for study participants with an alcohol use disorder (Project MATCH Research Group, 1997). Through extensive collaboration by committee, three AUD treatments (i.e., cognitive behavioral, motivational enhancement, and twelve step facilitation) were chosen for investigation. These three AUD treatments had been demonstrated to be clinically effective, had potential for revealing matching effects, had applicability to existing treatment programs and patient populations, and were deemed sufficiently distinctive from each other (Longabaugh & Wirtz, 2001). Participants were randomly assigned to one of the three treatment conditions: *Twelve-Step Facilitation* (TSF; Nowinski, Baker & Caroll, 1995); *Cognitive-Behavioral Coping Skills Therapy* (CBT; Kadden et al., 1995); or *Motivational Enhancement Therapy* (MET; Miller et al., 1995), which were delivered across a twelve-week period. Both CBT and TSF involved weekly individual treatment sessions, whereas MET consisted of four individual treatment sessions, occurring during the 1st, 2nd, 6th, and 12th weeks.

The overall goal of the TSF treatment was to help the participant achieve abstinence from alcohol by promoting the patient's active participation in Alcoholics Anonymous (AA). The major goals of the TSF intervention emphasize the first steps of AA: admitting that they have developed the chronic and progressive illness of alcoholism, that the ability to control drinking has been lost, and that the only viable solution is complete abstinence. The primary goal of MET was to help the patient modify his/her alcohol consumption, which was accomplished by interventions designed to increase patient motivation and helping to mobilize the patient's own resources to effect change. The first session (week 1) provided structured feedback from the intake assessment regarding drinking frequency and quantity, as well as problems associated with drinking. The second session (week 2) worked toward consolidating commitment to change

and the creation of a change plan. The sessions during the sixth and twelfth week were designed as booster sessions aimed at reinforcing and/or reconfirming the patients' commitment to change. CBT, as implemented in Project MATCH, represented an integration of several social learningtheory based interventions. The CBT approach emphasized teaching techniques to enable patients to achieve and maintain sobriety, such as skills-training, problem-solving, and contingency management. Detailed information specific to each treatment approach is available in the form of treatment manuals specific to each treatment (Kadden et al., 1995; Miller et al., 1995; Nowinski et al., 1995) and a summary of each treatment approach is provided in the initial Project MATCH paper detailing the study's rationale and methods (The Project MATCH Research Group, 1993).

Participants

The current study included a sample of participants from the outpatient arm of the Project MATCH study. The demographics of the full outpatient sample (n = 952) were 27.7% female, 80% non-Hispanic White, 35.5% married, mean age was 38.9 years (SD = 10.7), and the mean level of education was 13.4 years (SD = 2.2). More information on participant characteristics are described in detail by the Project MATCH Research Group (1993), as well as in the study of the primary matching hypotheses (Project MATCH Research Group, 1997). All participants met criteria of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (3rd ed., rev.; DSM-III-R; American Psychiatric Association, 1987) for a current diagnosis of alcohol abuse or dependence as assessed using the alcohol section of the *Structured Clinical Interview for the DSM-III-R* (SCID; Spitzer & Williams, 1985). The majority (> 95%) met criteria for alcohol dependence.

To be eligible for Project MATCH, participants had to be at least 18 years of age and satisfy the following conditions: (1) meet DSM- III-R criteria for alcohol dependence or abuse; (2) report alcohol as their principle substance of abuse; (3) report alcohol use within 3 months prior to treatment entry; (4) not meet the DSM-III-R criteria for dependence on sedative/hypnotic drugs, stimulants, cocaine, or opiates; (5) report no intravenous drug use for the past 6 months; (6) report no current acute suicidality; (7) report no current residential instability; (8) indicate no current acute psychosis or severe organic impairment; and (9) report that they anticipated no more than 6 hours of involvement in other non-self-help treatment during participation in Project MATCH.

In the present study, 741 patients provided requisite data from the Project MATCH outpatient arm sample, representing 78% of the original population. Baseline demographics and participant characteristics are provided in Table 1. The main reasons for deletion of cases from the original outpatient sample were missing Working Alliance Inventory (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1986) ratings by either patients or therapists (n = 228), and incomplete or missing post-treatment primary drinking data (n = 13). Chi-square tests comparing participants in the present sample with those from the original outpatient sample revealed no significant differences between samples.

Procedure

Although a brief overview of the procedures used in Project MATCH is included here, a detailed description is provided in the Project MATCH Research Group (1993). Outpatient participants were recruited from the community through advertisements or from outpatient

treatment centers, and the outpatient arm of the study took place at five clinical research units in, Albuquerque, NM, Buffalo, NY, Farmington, CT, Milwaukee, WI, and West Haven, CT. Background information (e.g., demographics, education, current marital and employment status) was gathered from participants as part of the initial screening and formal diagnostic evaluation interview session at baseline. After baseline assessment, patients were randomly assigned to one of the three 12-week treatments. Therapy sessions were videotaped to assure treatment protocol adherence and to provide the data needed for investigations of treatment process (Carroll, Kadden, Donovan, Zweben, & Rounsaville, 1994; DiClemente, Carroll, Connors, & Kadden, 1994). Assessments in a variety of process domains were also conducted during the course of treatment, including measurements of the therapeutic alliance.

Study participants were assessed at baseline and with additional follow-up assessments quarterly at 3-months, 6-months, 9-months, 12-months and 15-months. The treatment period was 12 weeks long, thus the 3-month assessment occurred immediately after the treatment period and the 15-month assessment occurred one year after treatment. Intake and follow-up data were primarily obtained with interviews and questionnaires. Collateral informants were interviewed at recruitment and at the 3-, 9-, and 15-month follow-up periods regarding their observations of the participant's drinking behavior and psychosocial functioning. The 3-month, 9-month, and 15-month follow-ups also included collection of blood and urine specimens, which were used to monitor unreported drug use and changes in alcohol consumption, and to corroborate self-report measures. At the 1-year posttreatment follow-up, 92% of the living outpatients and 93% of the living aftercare clients were interviewed.

Measures

Working alliance inventory. Project MATCH used the Working Alliance Inventory (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1989) to measure both therapist and patient assessments of therapeutic working alliance. The WAI is a 36-item measure that consists of three subscales that address the goals of therapy (Goal), agreement about the tasks of therapy (Task), and the bond between the patient and therapist (Bond). In addition to the three WAI subscale scores, the WAI yields an overall total score. Responses are based on Likert-type ratings (1 = `Never' to 7 = `Always') for 36 items that assess the extent to which the respondent agrees with statements regarding the therapeutic relationship (e.g., "We respect each other"). The psychometric properties of the WAI are well established, with estimates of internal consistency exceeding .85 and above on all subscales (Horvath & Greenberg, 1986; Safran & Wallner, 1991; Tracey & Kokotovic, 1989). The reliability estimate (Cronbach's *a*) for the total scale is .92 (Tracey & Kokotovic, 1989).

As in previous studies of working alliance in Project MATCH (Connors et al, 1997), this dissertation study was based on analyses of WAI total scores. Connors and colleagues (1997) justified the use of total score over sub-scale measures in their analysis due to the structural analysis of the WAI reported by Tracey and Kokotovic (1989), who found support for the use of the WAI to assess one general alliance dimension. Additionally, Connors and colleagues (1997) also reported high levels of intercorrelation between sub-scales in the Project MATCH sample (ranging from .69 to .91), and high levels of intercorrelation between the subscales and the total score (ranging from .87 to .96).

In Project MATCH, study protocol dictated that participants complete the WAI after the second treatment session, and therapists complete the measure after the second, sixth, and 10th

treatment sessions for CBT and TSF conditions, and after the second and third sessions in the MET condition). For the current study, only WAI scores collected during the second treatment session were used, unless this data was missing. In the case of missing data, several decision rules were applied to determine if data could be used from another session as a replacement. These rules were adapted from the procedure used by Connors and colleagues (1997) in their study of working alliance. As participants in different conditions met with their therapists on different schedules (weekly for CBT and TSF; 1st, 2nd, 6th, and 12th weeks for MET), different rules were applied for inclusion/exclusion of WAI data beyond the second session. When patients or therapists in the CBT or TSF conditions were missing second session data points, WAI data that were collected at session three were included. Participants in the MET treatment condition did not meet for session three until the sixth week of treatment, therefore all MET cases for which WAI data was collected after the second session were excluded. After these decision rules were applied, all cases in which WAI data was available for only one member of the patienttherapist dyad were also excluded.

Thus, for the present study, cases were only included if both participants had useable WAI data, and all ratings of the therapeutic alliance occurred after at least two treatment sessions, but no later than the third treatment session for TSF and CBT and no later than the second treatment session for MET.

Drinking history and drinking outcomes. At baseline, several questionnaire and interview measures were used to gather information on participants' pretreatment drinking histories. These same measures were used to collect posttreatment drinking outcome data. Estimates of alcohol consumption were obtained for the 90-day pretreatment period, the 12-week

treatment period, and throughout the posttreatment follow-up period using the Form 90 (Miller, 1996). The Form 90 was administered by an in-person interview to obtain retrospective self-reports of daily alcohol consumption. This interview procedure combines calendar memory cues from a time-line follow-back methodology (Sobell & Sobell, 1992) and drinking pattern estimation procedures (Miller & Marlatt, 1984). The Form 90 was used to derive measures of alcohol consumption (i.e., the percentage of days during the assessment interval for which the participant was abstinent [PDA], and average number of drinks consumed per drinking day[DDD]). In two separate test-retest reliability samples, the Form 90 interview yielded relatively consistent outcome measures of drinking, illicit drug use and psychosocial functioning (r > .90 in 57 of 81 comparisons). For drinking outcome indices in particular (i.e., the variables that the Form 90 interview was originally constructed to measure), reliability was consistent (all r values > .88) (Tonigan, Miller & Brown, 1997).

Alcohol-related negative consequences. Alcohol related negative consequences were assessed using the Drinker's Inventory of Negative Consequences Instrument (DrInC; Miller et al., 1995). This scale measures the problems related to drinking distinct from abuse, dependence, consumption, or help-seeking. Study participants reported the frequency of 45 alcohol-related consequences (e.g., "My marriage or love relationship has been harmed by my drinking") using a 4-point Likert type scale that ranged from 0 (never) to 3 (daily or almost daily). The items measure severity of alcohol problems in five domains — physical, intrapersonal, social responsibility, interpersonal, and impulse control. Additionally, five non-problem items that heavy drinkers would be expected to endorse are included as a control scale, to detect a negative or inattentive response set. Participants were assessed at baseline for both lifetime and recent (90

days) consequences, and for recent consequences at posttreatment and follow-up assessments. Excellent stability in measurement was found for both the total scale and DrInC subscales, with five of six test-retest Pearson correlations exceeding .90 (DrInC; Miller et al., 1995). Lifetime outpatient and inpatient Cronbach α 's fell within the range of .70 to .80 (Miller et al., 1995).

Treatment participation. Treatment providers reported dates of attendance and the number of treatment sessions attended by each participant. As per Connors et al. (1997), treatment participation was operationalized as the number of weeks patients were involved in treatment during the 12-week treatment period. In other words, participation was calculated as the number of weeks spanning the first and last treatment session patients attended. This measure, rather than number of sessions or percentage of sessions attended, provided a more comparable assessment of participation across these three treatments, which differed in the number of sessions offered (i.e., 12 sessions for CBT and TSF and four sessions for MET).

Data Analysis

Operationalizing working alliance discrepancy. Working alliance rating discrepancy between participants and therapists was operationalized in two ways in the present study. The first measure of working alliance discrepancy was a baseline gauge of the level of disagreement between the patient and therapist in their working alliance ratings at the second session. This measure was calculated as the absolute value of a difference score derived by subtracting the participant WAI total score from their respective therapist's WAI total score. A score of zero represents perfect congruence (no difference between the participant and therapist WAI total score), whereas higher values represent greater discrepancy between patients and their therapist. This method of determining working alliance discrepancy produces a continuous variable that

does not take into account the directionality of the disagreement, and was therefore used to address whether the degree of discrepancy predicts outcomes.

The second working alliance discrepancy measure used in this study was derived through the use of a median-split method. WAI scores for both patient's and therapists were dichotomized into high vs. low working alliance ratings. This was accomplished by determining the median values for both participant and therapist WAI scores. Patients with WAI scores above the median were defined as having "high alliance" while those below the median were defined as having "low alliance." Those witha median score were assigned to the "high alliance" condition. The same procedure was used for therapist scores. This resulted in a 2 by 2 design with two "alliance levels" for both patients and therapists (see Figure 1). This design produces four groups: two congruent groups (patient high/therapist high; patient low/therapist low) and two discrepant groups (patient high/therapists low; patient low/therapist high). These groups can then be compared to address the relative outcomes of the two discrepant alliance groups.

Preliminary analyses. Following selection criteria described above, preliminary analyses were conducted to obtain information regarding frequencies, distributions, and characteristics of the study subsample. Chi-square tests were performed to determine if the study subsample differed significantly from the full outpatient sample. The outcome variables of percentage of days abstinent (PDA) and drinks per drinking day (DDD) were also examined for their distributions, as they have been noted to depart from normality because of skewness and floor-ceiling effects (Connors et al., 1997). As per Connors, et al., (1997) the percentage of days abstinent variable was subjected to an arcsin transformation and the drinks per drinking day

variable was subjected to a square root transformation in order to improve their distributions prior to conducting primary analyses.

Primary analyses. Hypotheses regarding the contribution of working alliance discrepancy were evaluated in two separate analyses using the two different operationalizations of working alliance discrepancy described above. Hypothesis 1 was examined using a series of four multiple regression analyses, one for each of the outcome variables. The outcome variables were those assessed at the 3-month follow-up (immediately posttreatment), measuring percentage of days abstinent (PDA), mean drinks per drinking day (DDD), and alcohol related negative consequences (DrInC) during the treatment period, as well as treatment participation (the number of weeks attended). The predictor variable of interest included in this analysis was the working alliance discrepancy score. Baseline measures of PDA and DDD for the 90-day pretreatment period and baseline DrInC scores were included as covariates.

Hypothesis 2 was examined via a 2x2 factorial design using four separate univariate analyses of covariance (ANCOVAs), examining the groups formed by the median-split dichotomization of the patient and therapist WAI scores. The dichotomy of high vs. low alliance scores for the patients represent two levels of factor A, whereas the dichotomy of high vs. low scores for the therapists represent two levels of factor B. In this design, the main effects of factor A demonstrates the relative difference between levels of patient alliance on outcomes regardless of therapist scores, while main effects of factor B demonstrates relative difference between levels of therapist alliance on outcomes regardless of patient scores. The hypothesis that the discrepant group characterized by higher patient scores will outperform the discrepant group characterized by higher therapist scores can be tested via the presence of a significant interaction effect. This significant interaction would indicate that the contribution to the variance in outcomes by the alliance level of the participant (high or low) varies depending on the level of alliance of the therapist (high or low). This would illustrate any significant differences between those groups that had mismatched patients' and therapists' evaluations of the level of the alliance. The outcome variables were those assessed at the 3-month follow-up (immediately posttreatment), measuring percentage of days abstinent (PDA), mean drinks per drinking day (DDD), and alcohol related negative consequences (DrInC) during the treatment period, as well as treatment participation. Baseline measures of PDA and DDD for the 90-day pretreatment period and baseline DrInC scores were included as covariates.

Results

The means, standard deviations, N, and correlations of non-transformed baseline and treatment outcome measures with working alliance discrepancy can be found in Table 2. Correlations indicated that discrepancy between patients and therapists in working alliance scores were not associated with baseline or 3-month (posttreatment) percent days abstinent (PDA), drinks per drinking day (DDD), alcohol-related negative consequences (DrInC), or treatment participation. Following transformation of baseline and posttreatment PDA and DDD (as described in the Methods section), additional correlations were obtained. Baseline PDA was weakly correlated with posttreatment PDA (r = 0.19, p < .01) and DDD (r = 0.07, p < .05). Baseline DDD was weakly correlated with posttreatment DDD (r = 0.22, p < .01) and DrInC (r = 0.17, p < .01), and weakly negatively correlated with treatment participation (r = -0.12, p < .01). Baseline negative consequences was weakly correlated with posttreatment DDD (r = 0.36, p < .01), and weakly negatively

correlated with treatment participation (r = -0.14, p < .01). Among the predictor variables, baseline PDA was weakly negatively correlated with baseline DrInC (r = -0.17, p < .01), and baseline DDD was moderately correlated with baseline DrInC (r = 0.43, p < .01). All of the outcome measures were correlated with one another, with Pearson r values ranging from -.27 to -.57 and .36 to .64 (all significant at the p < .01 level).

A series of four multiple linear regressions were calculated to predict the selected outcome measures based on working alliance discrepancy score and the appropriate corresponding baseline measure. These four models were tested independently of one another, and predictor variables were entered simultaneously. Some models had a slightly reduced N due to missing outcome data. The model predicting PDA during the treatment period was tested using the working alliance discrepancy score and PDA at baseline. Similarly, the models predicting DDD and DrInC scores were tested using only the working alliance discrepancy score and their corresponding baseline measure. As treatment participation had no specific corresponding baseline measure to control for, all three baseline measures (i.e. PDA, DDD, & DrInC) were entered into this model.

All four models were found to significantly predict their various outcome measures, with uniformly small effect sizes. The beta weights, presented in Table 3, suggest that in all models the contribution of working alliance discrepancy was non-significant. For the model examining percent days abstinent during the treatment period, the regression analysis indicated that the two predictors (baseline percent days abstinent and working alliance discrepancy) explained 3.5% of the variance (adjusted $R^2 = .035$, F(2,738) = 14.52, p < .001). For the model examining drinks per drinking day during the treatment period, the regression indicated that the two predictors

(baseline drinks per drinking day and working alliance discrepancy) explained 4.8% of the variance (adjusted $R^2 = .048$, F(2,733) = 19.357, p < .001). For the model examining alcohol-related negative consequences during the treatment period, the regression indicated that the two predictors (baseline negative consequences and working alliance discrepancy) explained 12.7% of the variance (adjusted $R^2 = .127$, F(2,703) = 52.28, p < .001). For the model examining treatment participation, the regression indicated that the combination of all four predictors (baseline drinks per drinking day, baseline percent days abstinent, baseline negative consequences and working alliance discrepancy) explained 1.7% of the variance (adjusted $R^2 = .001$). Of the four predictors, only baseline alcohol related negative consequences contributed a statistical significant proportion of the variance ($\beta = -0.11$, t(726) = -2.64, p < .01).

Four two-way analysis of covariance tests (ANCOVAs) were conducted to compare the influence of two factors (client alliance level and therapist alliance level) on the four outcome variables while controlling for the appropriate corresponding baseline measure. The four outcomes measured were two drinking behavior variables (percent days abstinent, drinks per drinking day), alcohol related negative consequences, and treatment participation. Patient alliance included two levels (high and low) and therapist alliance included two levels (high and low) and therapist alliance included two levels (high and low). These four ANCOVAs are summarized in Table 4. In all four analyses, no statistically significant interaction effects were found. This indicates a lack of support for the hypothesis that the contribution to the variance in outcomes by the alliance level of one participant of the therapist-patient dyad depends on the level of alliance of the other. Table 5 shows the number of subjects, means, and standard deviations of the dependent variables for each cell.

The analysis of percent days abstinent during treatment yielded a main effect for both therapist alliance level (F(1,736) = 9.69, p < .05) and client alliance level (F(1,736) = 5.19, p < .01) after controlling for baseline percent days abstinent. This indicates a significant difference between participants with therapists with high alliance (M = 1.17, SD = .41) versus those with therapists with low alliance (M = 1.07, SD = .44) in the percentage of days patients maintained abstinence during the course of treatment. Similarly, there was a significant difference in maintenance of abstinence between participants who had high alliance (M = 1.16, SD = .42) versus those who had low alliance (M = 1.08, SD = .44). It should be noted that both percent days abstinent and drinks per drinking day were transformed prior to these analyses, and therefore the means and standard deviations presented here do not represent the actual percentage of days abstinent or number of drinks consumed. For the purpose of clinical interpretation, Table 6 shows the non-transformed means and deviations representing these values.

The analysis of drinks per drinking day during treatment yielded a main effect for both therapist alliance level (F(1,736) = 4.70, p < .05) and client alliance level (F(1,736) = 7.24, p < .01) after controlling for baseline drinks per drinking day. This indicates a significant difference between participants with therapists with high alliance (M = 1.94, SD = 1.53) versus those with therapists with low alliance (M = 2.23, SD = 1.47) in the number of drinks consumed on drinking days during the course of treatment. Similarly, there was a significant difference in drinks consumed between participants who had high alliance (M = 1.93, SD = 1.51) versus those who had low alliance (M = 2.24, SD = 1.49). See Table 6 for non-transformed means and standard deviations.

The analysis of alcohol-related negative consequences during treatment yielded a main effect only for client alliance level (F(1,701) = 9.58, p < .01) after controlling for baseline alcohol-related negative consequences. This indicates a significant difference in the mean number of alcohol-related negative consequences experienced during the course of treatment between participants with high alliance (M = 21.27, SD = 24.4) versus those with low alliance (M = 26.71, SD = 26.46).

The analysis of treatment participation yielded a main effect only for therapist alliance level (F(1,724) = 6.41, p < .05) after controlling for baseline percent days abstinent, baseline drinks per drinking day, and baseline alcohol-related negative consequences. This indicates a significant difference in the mean number of treatment sessions attended during the course of treatment between participants with therapists with high alliance (M = 10.83, SD = 2.99) versus those with therapists with low alliance (M = 10.20, SD = 3.49).

Discussion

This study examined two primary hypotheses regarding the impact of disagreement between patients and therapists about the quality of their therapeutic relationship on eventual therapeutic outcomes and treatment participation. First, this study examined whether the level of disagreement between patients and therapists on the quality of their therapeutic relationship was predictive of reduced treatment participation and treatment outcomes. Second, this study compared the treatment outcomes and treatment participation of patient groups that were characterized by the arrangement of levels of patient and therapist alliance ratings, in order to determine whether the amount of variance in outcomes accounted for by levels of patient alliance varied as a function of therapist alliance.

The findings of this study did not provide support for the first hypothesis regarding the use of working alliance discrepancy as a predictor of drinking behavior, alcohol-related negative consequences, or treatment participation. Working alliance discrepancy was not found to be correlated with outcomes, and all four multiple regression analyses failed to provide support for the hypothesis that the discrepancy significantly contributed to the variance beyond that which could be explained by baseline measurements. Although all of the regression models were significant, only the baseline measures were significant contributors. This corroborates the findings by Connors et al. (1997), which consistently showed that greater degrees of pretreatment alcohol involvement predicted fewer treatment sessions attended, lower percentage of days abstinent, and more drinks consumed per drinking day when assessed posttreatment. Unlike the findings reported by Connors et al. (1997), of the three baseline measures included in the regression analysis examining treatment participation, only alcohol-related negative consequences provided a significant (though modest) impact to the model. Clinically this suggests that negative consequences that stem from heavy drinking just prior to treatment are potentially a better predictor of worse session attendance when compared to alcohol consumption prior to treatment. Theoretically, it is possible that pretreatment alcohol-related negative consequences mediate the relationship between the amount of alcohol consumed prior to treatment and treatment participation. Higher levels of alcohol consumption could lead to increased negative consequences, and it may be the social, physical, and interpersonal difficulties associated with heavy drinking that lead to increased difficulty in participating fully in treatment. As Connors and colleagues (1997) did not include a baseline measure of the negative consequences of alcohol consumption in their analysis, this interpretation is speculative. The

potential mediating effects of alcohol-related negative consequences on the relationship between pretreatment alcohol consumption and treatment participation warrants further study.

The second primary hypothesis of this study was that in the case of discrepant alliance ratings by patients and their therapists, positive patient ratings would be more "important" than therapist ratings, with a stronger association to positive treatment outcomes. In other words, it was expected that the patient group characterized by patients who rate the alliance as high while their therapists rate it as low will have greater treatment participation, less alcohol use, and fewer alcohol related negative consequences when compared to the patient group characterized by patients who rate the alliance as low when their therapists rate it as high. This hypothesis was not supported by the results of the 2 by 2 factorial analyses of covariance, as all four tests of the primary outcome variables failed to show significant interaction effects.

The main effects yielded by these analyses suggests that working alliance ratings by patients and therapists are independently associated with positive outcomes, depending on the variable in question. With regards to drinking behavior, both patient and therapist ratings of the alliance in the second session were associated with increased abstinence during the treatment period and decreased number of drinks consumed on days when patients did drink. On the other hand, a statistically significant reduction of the negative consequences associated with drinking was only observed to be associated with patient ratings of the therapeutic alliance, while statistically significant increases in the number of treatment sessions attended was only associated with therapist alliance.

Clinically, the observed differences between groups defined by high and low alliance ratings in patient drinking behavior, negative consequences, and treatment participation were modest. The difference between low and high alliance as measured by patients was associated with an average 4% increase in abstinence, 1.24 fewer average drinks consumed on drinking days, and an average 5.44 score reduction on the measure of negative consequences (on a scale ranging from 0-135). The difference between low and high alliance as measured by therapists was associated with an average 5% increase in abstinence, 1.14 fewer average drinks consumed on drinking days, and an average of 0.63 more sessions attended. These changes, though statistically significant, offer only limited relevance for clinicians.

One limitation of the current study was the use of the median-split method to dichotomize the patient and therapist working alliance samples into "high" and "low" alliance. The Working Alliance Inventory does not have standard cut-off scores determining high or low values, and there is a lack of theoretical basis or empirical evidence about what constitutes discrepancy or congruence between two scores from different individuals on a single measure. The problem arises in that the groups obtained by median-split could result in groups containing values that have been operationalized as conceptually distinct (high or low alliance), but are in truth relatively close. In a normal distribution of scores with low skewness and kurtosis, many values will be clustered close to the median, leading to a lack of discrimination and two separate alliance groupings that may not actually be distinct. In the current study, this has the potential to reduce the power/precision of the analyses that used this method, increasing the likelihood of a Type II error.

Additional limitations include the use of data collected as part of a clinical trial (i.e., participants were part of a study employing a research protocol and received a structured, manualized, time-limited intervention). This presents a number of limitations regarding the

generalizability of study results to other treatments, longer treatments, or other types of patients. To what degree any findings of the present study would be present in a non-research community treatment setting is unclear. The current study is also limited by the use of secondary data analysis, rather than a true experimental design.

The use of self-report data in Project MATCH also introduces issues related to reliability and validity. However, the risk of unreliable or invalid reporting is substantially mitigated by the special attention paid by the Project MATCH Research Group to alleviating these risks. A comprehensive test-retest reliability study showed that measures derived from interviewer assessments were reliable for interviewers paired across and within sites, and the PDA and DDD variables were found to be consistent across test-retest interviews (e.g. Del Broca & Brown, 1996; Project MATCH Research Group, 1997; Tonigan, Miller, & Brown, 1997). Project MATCH also included the use of urine drug screens, blood tests, and collateral reports to corroborate and validate self-reported drinking and drug use (Project MATCH Research Group, 1997). They reported that urine drug screens were highly consistent with participant self-reports, and when discrepancies were observed, it was more likely that clients reported drug use when screens were negative. Similarly, patients tended to report more drug use and alcohol consumption than collateral informants. Self-reports of drinking were examined in relation to gamma glutamyl transpeptidase (GGTP) values from blood draws at the 15-month assessment, which they found were significantly associated with self-reported drinking (Project MATCH Research Group, 1997).

Another limitation of the current study is the potential for a selection bias, as the sample included only individuals who stayed in treatment at least through the second session. For those

participants who felt particularly disconnected or negatively towards their therapists in the first session, it stands to reason that these participants would not have returned for a second session. Thus, ratings of alliance could have a hypothetical minimum threshold such that participants included in the present study represent only a subsample within the range of possible alliance scores, limiting the possible upper bounds of the alliance discrepancy score and the lower bounds of the 'low alliance' group. Within this sample, only six participants attended a single session before dropping out, representing less than 1% of those included in the study. In addition, the study is limited by only have WAI data available from both members of the therapeutic dyad during the second session.

Although this study did not find significant results with regard to the impact of alliance discrepancy on clinical outcomes, several other studies offer promising results and provide indications that levels of agreement (or disagreement) between patients and therapists regarding the alliance may still be a variable of interest for the field. It may be the case that more sophisticated and sensitive statistical tests will be required to uncover the effects of alliance discrepancy or congruence. For example, Marmarosh and Kivlighan (2012) and Zilcha-Mano, Snyder, and Silberschatz (2017) both used response surface analysis statistical techniques, and were able to isolate a statistically significant impact of alliance congruence on clinical outcomes and therapy process variables respectively. Similarly, some researchers have begun to use dyadic analysis techniques, such as the "one-with-many" design, which can decompose those aspects of the alliance that derive from therapist effects rather than unique aspects of the relationship (see Marcus, Kashy, & Baldwin, 2009, & Manne et al., 2012).

Other areas of study within the field of alliance research have also suggested that alliance levels change over the course of therapy with potentially predictable patterns, although the exact nature of those patterns remain in question (e.g. Brossart, Wilson, Patton, Kivlighan, & Multon, 1998; Horvath & Marx, 1990; Kivlighan & Shaughnessy, 1995; Kivlighan & Shaughnessy, 2000; Patton, Kivlighan, & Multon, 1997). As both patient and therapist alliance have the potential to change over the course of therapy, this complicates the issue of the impact discrepancies or similarities in their perceptions of their alliance and raises the possibility of an impact due to convergence or divergence (i.e., degree of *change* in agreement on alliance quality over time). Though studies examining the impact of convergence/divergence of alliance ratings on treatment outcomes are limited, there is some evidence that alliance convergence is associated with clinical improvements (e.g. Laws, et al., 2017).

Although the findings of this study do not directly support the hypothesis that alliance rating discrepancies between patients and therapists impact treatment outcomes, this area of research remains an important area of study. Statistical modeling techniques that can capture the unique dyadic nature of the alliance construct and its development over the course of therapy show promising results (e.g. Marmarosh & Kivlighan, 2012; Zilcha-Mano, Snyder, & Silberschatz, 2017). The body of research indicates that alliance is a consistent predictor of clinical outcomes. This study confirms that if pre-treatment alcohol consumption and negative consequences associated with alcohol consumption can be taken into account, treatment providers may be able to use early measures of the alliance (by themselves or by patients) to good effect monitoring the therapy and predicting outcomes and treatment retention. The use of such alliance measures throughout the treatment process may help therapists to become aware of the risk of disengagement, and take steps to mitigate it.

References

- Allen, J. P., Mattson, M. E., Miller, W. R., Tonigan, J. S., Connors, G. J., Rychtarik, R. G., ... & Cooney, N. L. (1997). Matching alcoholism treatments to client heterogeneity: Project MATCH posttreatment drinking outcomes. *Journal of studies on alcohol*, 58(1), 7-29. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1997.58.7
- Bachelor, A. (2013). Clients' and therapists' views of the therapeutic alliance: Similarities, differences and relationship to therapy outcome. *Clinical psychology & psychotherapy*, 20(2), 118-135. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.792
- Bashshur, M. R., Hernández, A., & González-Romá, V. (2011). When managers and their teams disagree: a longitudinal look at the consequences of differences in perceptions of organizational support. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 96(3), 558. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/a0022675
- Bergin, A., & Lambert, M. (1978). The evaluation of therapeutic outcomes. S. Garfield & LA Bergin (Eds.), *Handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change* (pp. 139-189). New York, NY: Wiley.
- Bordin, E. S. (1979). The generalizability of the psychoanalytic concept of the working alliance. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice*, 16, 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0085885
- Brossart, D. F., Wilson, V. L., Patton, M. J., Kivlighan, D. M., & Multon, K. D. (1998). A time series model of the working alliance: A key process in short-term psychoanalytic counseling. Psychotherapy, 35, 197-205. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0087645
- Carroll, K. M., Kadden, R. M., Donovan, D. M., Zweben, A., & Rounsaville, B.J. (1994). Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 55(Suppl. No.12), 149-155. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsas. 1994.s12.149
- Cecero, J. J., Fenton, L. R., Frankforter, T. L., Nich, C., & Carroll, K. M. (2001). Focus on therapeutic alliance: The psychometric properties of six measures across three treatments. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training*, 38(1), 1. https:// doi.org/10.1037/0033-3204.38.1.1
- Connors, G. J., Carroll, K. M., DiClemente, C. C., Longabaugh, R., & Donovan, D. M. (1997). The therapeutic alliance and its relationship to alcoholism treatment participation and outcome. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65(4), 588-598. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-006X.65.4.588

- Compare, A., Tasca, G. A., Lo Coco, G., & Kivlighan Jr, D. M. (2016). Congruence of group therapist and group member alliance judgments in emotionally focused group therapy for binge eating disorder. *Psychotherapy*, 53(2), 163. https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000042
- Connors, G. J., DiClemente, C. C., Dermen, K. H., Kadden, R., Carroll, K. M., & Frone, M. R. (2000). Predicting the therapeutic alliance in alcoholism treatment. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 61*(1), 139-149. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2000.61.139
- Cooney, N. L., Babor, T. F., DiClemente, C. C., & Del Boca, F. K. (2003). Clinical and scientific implications of Project MATCH. In T. F. Babor & F. K. Del Boca (Eds.), *Treatment matching in alcoholism* (pp. 222-237). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1958). Proposals leading to analytic treatment of social perception scores. *Person perception and interpersonal behavior*, *353*, 379.
- Del Boca, F. K., & Brown, J. M. (1996). Issues in the development of reliable measures in addictions research: Introduction to Project MATCH assessment strategies. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 10(2), 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.10.2.67
- DiClemente, C. C., Carroll, K. M., Connors, G. J., & Kadden, R. M. (1994). Process assessment in treatment matching research. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 55(Suppl. No. 12), 156-162. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsas.1994.s12.156
- Edwards, J. R. (1994). Regression analysis as an alternative to difference scores. *Journal of Management*, 20(3), 683-689. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639402000311
- Elvins, R., & Green, J. (2008). The conceptualization and measurement of therapeutic alliance: An empirical review. *Clinical psychology review*, 28(7), 1167-1187. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cpr.2008.04.002
- Fenton, L. R., Cecero, J. J., Nich, C., Frankforter, T. L., & Carroll, K. M. (2001). Perspective is everything: The predictive validity of six working alliance instruments. *The Journal of psychotherapy practice and research*, 10(4), 262.
- Fitzpatrick, M. R., Iwakabe, S., & Stalikas, A. (2005). Perspective divergence in the working alliance. *Psychotherapy Research*, 15(1-2), 69-80. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10503300512331327056
- Freud, S. (1913). On beginning the treatment (further recommendations on the technique of psycho-analysis I). In J. Strachey (Ed.), *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud, Volume XII (1911-1913): The Case of Schreber, Papers on Technique and Other Works* (pp. 121-144). The Hogarth Press and the Institute of Psycho-analysis: London.

- Gaston, L., Goldfried, M. R., Greenberg, L. S., Horvath, A. O., Raue, P. J., & Watson, J. (1995). The therapeutic alliance in psychodynamic, cognitive-behavioral, and experiential therapies. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 5(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1037/ h0101170
- Gaston, L., Marmar, C., Gallagher, D., & Thompson, L. (1991). Alliance prediction of outcome beyond in-treatment symptomatic change as psychotherapy processes. *Psychotherapy Research*, *1*(2), 104-112. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503309112331335531
- Gomes-Schwartz, B. (1978). Effective ingredients in psychotherapy: Prediction of outcome from process variables. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *46*(5), 1023-1035. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.46.5.1023
- Greenson, R. R. (1965). The working alliance and the transference neurosis. *The Psychoanalytic Quarterly*, *34*(2), 155-181. https://doi.org/10.1080/21674086.1965.11926343
- Hatcher, R. L., & Barends, A. W. (1996). Patients' view of the alliance in psychotherapy: Exploratory factor analysis of three alliance measures. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64(6), 1326–1336. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.64.6.1326
- Hartley, D. E., & Strupp, H. H. (1983). The therapeutic alliance: Its relationship to outcome in brief psychotherapy. *Empirical studies of psychoanalytic theories*, *1*, 1-37.
- Horvath, A. O., & Bedi, R. P. (2002). The alliance. In J. C. Norcross (Ed.), *Psychotherapy relationships that work: Therapists contributions and responsiveness to patients* (pp. 37–69). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Horvath, A. O., Del Re, A. C., Flückiger, C., & Symonds, D. (2011). Alliance in individual psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice, 48,* 9–16. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1037/a0022186
- Horvath, A. O., & Greenberg, L. S. (1989). Development and validation of the Working Alliance Inventory. *Journal of Counseling psychology*, 36(2), 223. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-0167.36.2.223
- Horvath, A. O., & Marx, R. W. (1990). The development and decay of the working alliance during time-limited counselling. *Canadian Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy*, 24(4).
- Horvath, A. O., & Symonds, B. D. (1991). Relation between working alliance and outcome in psychotherapy: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 38(2), 139-149. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.38.2.139

- Huppert, J. D., Kivity, Y., Barlow, D. H., Gorman, J. M., Shear, M. K., & Woods, S. W. (2014). Therapist effects and the outcome–alliance correlation in cognitive behavioral therapy for panic disorder with agoraphobia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 52, 26-34. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2013.11.001
- Ilgen, M. A., McKellar, J., Moos, R., & Finney, J. W. (2006). Therapeutic alliance and the relationship between motivation and treatment outcomes in patients with alcohol use disorder. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 31(2), 157-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jsat.2006.04.001
- Ilgen, M. A., Tiet, Q., Finney, J., & Moos, R. H. (2006). Self-efficacy, therapeutic alliance, and alcohol-use disorder treatment outcomes. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 67(3), 465-472. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2006.67.465
- Fjermestad, K. W., Lerner, M. D., McLeod, B. D., Wergeland, G. J. H., Heiervang, E. R., Silverman, W. K., ... & Haugland, B. S. (2016). Therapist-youth agreement on alliance change predicts long-term outcome in CBT for anxiety disorders. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 57(5), 625-632. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12485
- Kadden, R., Carroll, K. M., Donovan, D., Cooney, N., Monti, P., Abrams, D., ... Hester, R. (1995). Cognitive-behavioral coping skills therapy manual: A clinical research guide for therapists treating individuals with alcohol abuse and dependence. *Project MATCH Monograph Series, Vol. 3.* DHHS Publication No. 94-3724. Rockville, MD: NIAAA.
- Kivlighan Jr, D. M. (2007). Where is the relationship in research on the alliance? Two methods for analyzing dyadic data. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 54(4), 423. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-0167.54.4.423
- Kivlighan, D. M., & Shaughnessy, P. (1995). Analysis of the development of the working alliance using hierarchical linear modeling. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 42(3), 338. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.42.3.338
- Kivlighan Jr, D. M., & Shaughnessy, P. (2000). Patterns of working alliance development: A typology of client's working alliance ratings. *Journal of counseling psychology*, 47(3), 362. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.47.3.362
- Knuuttila, V., Kuusisto, K., Saarnio, P., & Nummi, T. (2012). Early working alliance in outpatient substance abuse treatment: Predicting substance use frequency and client satisfaction. *Clinical Psychologist*, *16*(3), 123-135. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1742-9552.2012.00049.x

- Lambert, M. J., & Bergin, A. E. (1994). The effectiveness of psychotherapy. In A. E. Bergin & S.
 L. Garfield (Eds.), *Handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change* (pp. 143-189).
 Oxford, England: John Wiley.
- Langhoff, C., Baer, T., Zubraegel, D., & Linden, M. (2008). Therapist-Patient Alliance, Patient-Therapist Alliance, Mutual Therapeutic Alliance, Therapist-Patient Concordance, and Outcome of CBT in GAD. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 22(1), 68. https://doi.org/ 10.1891/0889.8391.22.1.68
- Laws, H. B., Constantino, M. J., Sayer, A. G., Klein, D. N., Kocsis, J. H., Manber, R., ... Arnow, B. A. (2017). Convergence in patient-therapist therapeutic alliance ratings and its relation to outcome in chronic depression treatment. *Psychotherapy research: journal of the Society for Psychotherapy Research*, 27(4), 410–424. doi: 10.1080/10503307.2015.1114687
- Longabaugh, R. H. & Wirtz, P. W. (2001). Project MATCH hypotheses, results and causal chain analyses. *Project MATCH Monograph Series, Vol. 8*. DHHS Publication No. 01-4238. Rockville, MD: NIAAA.
- Luborsky, L. (1976). Helping alliances in psychotherapy: The groundwork for a study of their relationship to its outcome. *Successful psychotherapy*, 92-116.
- Luborsky, L., Crits-Christoph, P., Alexander, L., Margolis, M., & Cohen, M. (1983). Two helping alliance methods for predicting outcomes of psychotherapy. A counting signs vs. a global rating method. *The Journal of nervous and mental disease*, 171(8), 480. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/00005053-198308000-00005
- Manne, S. L., Kashy, D. A., Rubin, S., Hernandez, E., & Bergman, C. (2012). Therapist and patient perceptions of alliance and progress in psychological therapy for women diagnosed with gynecological cancers. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 80(5), 800.doi: 10.1037/a0029158.
- Marcus, D. K., Kashy, D. A., & Baldwin, S. A. (2009). Studying psychotherapy using the onewith-many design: The therapeutic alliance as an exemplar. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 56(4), 537. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017291
- Martin, D. J., Garske, J. P., & Davis, M. K. (2000). Relation of the therapeutic alliance with outcome and other variables: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(3), 438-450. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.3.438
- Marmar, C. R., & Gaston, L. (1988). Manual for the California psychotherapy scales-CALPAS. Unpublished manuscript. San Francisco, CA: University of California

- Marmar, C. R., Horowitz, M. J., Weiss, D. S., & Marziali, E. (1986). The development of the Therapeutic Alliance Rating System. In L. S. Greenberg & W. M. Pinsof (Eds.), *Guilford clinical psychology and psychotherapy series*. *The psychotherapeutic process: A research handbook* (pp. 367-390). New York: Guilford Press. https://doi.org/10.1037/t02049-000
- Marmarosh, C. L., & Kivlighan Jr, D. M. (2012). Relationships among client and counselor agreement about the working alliance, session evaluations, and change in client symptoms using response surface analysis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 59(3), 352. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028907
- Marziali, E., Marmar, C., & Krupnick, J. (1981). Therapeutic alliance scales: Development and relationship to psychotherapy outcome. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 138(3), 361-364. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.138.3.361
- Meier, P. S., & Donmall, M. C. (2006). Differences in client and therapist views of the working alliance in drug treatment. *Journal of Substance Use*, 11(1), 73-80. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/14659890500137004
- Miller, W. R. (1996). Form 90: A structured assessment interview for drinking and related behaviors. Test manual. *Project MATCH Monograph Series, Vol. 5.* DHHS Publication No. 96-4004. Rockville, MD: NIAAA. https://doi.org/10.1037/e563242012-001
- Miller, W. R., & Marlatt, G. A. (1984). Manual for the comprehensive drinker profile. Psychological Assessment Resources.
- Miller, W. R., Tonigan, J. S., & Longabaugh, R. (1995). The Drinker Inventory of Consequences (DrInC): An instrument for assessing adverse consequences of alcohol abuse. *Project MATCH Monograph Series, Vol. 4.* DHHS Publication No. 95-3911. Rockville MD: NIAAA. https://doi.org/10.1037/e563232012-001
- Miller, W. R., Zweben, A., DiClemente, C. C. & Rychtarik, R. G. (1994). Motivational enhancement therapy manual: A clinical research guide for therapists treating individuals with alcohol abuse and dependence. *Project MATCH Monograph Series, Vol. 2.* DHHS Publication No. 94-3723. Rockville MD: NIAAA.
- Nowinski, J., Baker, S. & Carroll, K. M. (1995). Twelve step facilitation therapy manual: A clinical research guide for therapists treating individuals with alcohol abuse and dependence. *Project MATCH Monograph Series, Vol. 1*. DHHS Publication No. 94-3722. Rockville, MD: NIAAA.
- Patton, M. J., Kivlighan Jr, D. M., & Multon, K. D. (1997). The Missouri Psychoanalytic Counseling Research Project: Relation of changes in counseling process to client

outcomes. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 44(2), 189. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-0167.44.2.189

- Pepinsky, H. B., & Karst, T. (1964). Convergence: A phenomenon in counseling and in psychotherapy. *American Psychologist*, *19*(5), 333. doi:10.1037/h0044396
- Project MATCH Research Group. (1993). Project MATCH: Rationale and methods for a multisite clinical trial matching patients to alcoholism treatment. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 17, 1130-1145. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1530-0277.1993.tb05219.x
- Project MATCH Research Group. (1997). Matching alcoholism treatments outcomes. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 58*, 7-29. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1997.58.7
- Rogers, C. R. (1957). The necessary and sufficient conditions of therapeutic personality change. *Journal of Consulting Psychology, 22,* 95-103. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0045357
- Rozmarin, E., Muran, J. C., Safran, J., Gorman, B., Nagy, J., & Winston, A. (2008). Subjective and intersubjective analyses of the therapeutic alliance in a brief relational therapy. *American journal of psychotherapy*, 62(3), 313-328. https://doi.org/10.1176/ appi.psychotherapy.2008.62.3.313
- Safran, J. D., & Muran, J. C. (1996). The resolution of ruptures in the therapeutic alliance. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 64(3), 447. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-006X.64.3.447
- Safran, J. D., Muran, J. C., & Eubanks-Carter, C. (2011). Repairing alliance ruptures. *Psychotherapy*, 48(1), 80. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022140
- Safran, J. D., & Wallner, L. K. (1991). The relative predictive validity of two therapeutic alliance measures in cognitive therapy. *Psychological Assessment: A Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 3(2), 188. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.3.2.188
- Smith, M. L., Glass, G. V., & Miller, T. I. (1980). *The benefits of psychotherapy*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Sobell, L. C., & Sobell, M. B. (1992). Timeline follow-back. In *Measuring alcohol consumption* (pp. 41-72). Humana Press, Totowa, NJ. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-1-4612-0357-5_3
- Spitzer, R. L., Williams, J. B. W., Gibbon, M., & First, M. B. (1985). Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R (SCID) Biometrics Research Department. *New York State Psychiatric Institute*.

- Stiles, W. B., Shapiro, D. A., & Elliott, R. (1986). Are all psychotherapies equivalent? *American Psychologist*, *41*(2), 165-180. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.41.2.165
- Tichenor, V., & Hill, C. E. (1989). A comparison of six measures of working alliance. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 26*(2), 195-199. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/h0085419
- Tonigan, J. S., Miller, W. R., & Brown, J. M. (1997). The reliability of Form 90: an instrument for assessing alcohol treatment outcome. *Journal of studies on alcohol*, *58*(4), 358-364.
- Tracey, T. J., & Kokotovic, A. M. (1989). Factor structure of the working alliance inventory. *Psychological Assessment: A journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 1(3), 207. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.1.3.207
- Tryon, G. S., Blackwell, S. C., & Hammel, E. F. (2007). A meta-analytic examination of client– therapist perspectives of the working alliance. *Psychotherapy Research*, 17(6), 629-642. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300701320611
- Wall, T. D., & Payne, R. (1973). Are deficiency scores deficient? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 58(3), 322. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0036227
- Zandberg, L. J., Skriner, L. C., & Chu, B. C. (2015). Client-therapist alliance discrepancies and outcome in cognitive-behavioral therapy for youth anxiety. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 71(4), 313-322. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22167
- Zilcha-Mano, S., Snyder, J., & Silberschatz, G. (2017). The effect of congruence in patient and therapist alliance on patient's symptomatic levels. *Psychotherapy Research*, 27(3), 371-380. doi: 10.1080/10503307.2015.1126682 https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10503307.2015.1126682

Tables

Table 1

Demographic	Men	Women	Total
Gender (%)	539 (71.5%)	215 (28.5%)	754
Age (mean ± SD)	39.3 ± 10.8	39.5 ±11.3	39.4 ± 11.0
Ethnicity (%)			
Caucasian	83.1	76.6	81.8
Non-Caucasian	16.9	21.4	18.2
Years of Education (mean \pm SD)	13.5 ± 2.18	13.6 ± 2.0	13.5 ± 2.1
Relationship status (%)			
Married	40.0	27.4	36.4
Single	60.0	72.6	63.6
Employment (%)			
Employed	57.0	40.3	52.2
Not Employed	43.0	59.7	47.8
Prior alcohol treatment (%)			
Yes	45.5	38.1	43.4
No	54.5	61.9	56.6
Alcohol dependence symptoms (mean ± SD)	5.78 ± 2.0	5.6 ± 1.9	5.7 ± 2.0
ASI Psychiatric Severity (mean ± SD)	.18 ± .19	.22 ± .20	.19±.19

Couple = married and living with spouse at least 1 year; single = all others.

Employed = full time in same job continuously for past 6 months; not employed = all others. Measured by the SCID for the 90-day baseline period (symptom counts range from 1 to 9). Composite score derived from the Addiction Severity Index; higher scores indicate higher severity

Table 2

Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations for Drinking Behavior, Related Problems, Treatment Participation, with Working Alliance Inventory (WAI) Discrepancy at Baseline and 3-Months

	Alashal Usa			WAI Discrepancy
Time	Measure	Ν	M (SD)	27.79 (22.27)
Baseline	PDA	741	0.57 (0.39)	-0.02
	DDD	741	3.49 (0.91)	0.01
	DrInC	735	45.40 (21.77)	-0.01
Months 1-3	PDA	741	1.12 (0.43)	-0.02
	DDD	736	2.08 (1.51)	-0.03
	DrInC	712	24.27 (25.65)	-0.03
	Tx Weeks	737	10.50 (3.27)	-0.02

*p < .05; **p < .01

NOTE: Drinking behavior (PDA = percent days abstinent; DDD = drinks per drinking day) was measured using the Form 90 interview procedure (Miller, 1996). Alcohol-related Problems was assessed using the Drinker's Inventory of Negative Consequences instrument (DrInC; Miller et al., 1995). Treatment participation (Tx Weeks) was measured by calculating the number of weeks spanning the first and last treatment session that patients attended. Working alliance was measured using the Working Alliance Inventory (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1989). WAI Discrepancy was calculated as the absolute value of a difference score derived by subtracting the participant WAI total score from their respective therapist's WAI total score.

Table 3

Multiple Regression Analyses for Working Alliance Inventory (WAI) Discrepancy Predicting Drinking Behavior, Related Problems, and Treatment Participation at 3-Months While Controlling for Baseline Measures

	Predictor	В	SEB	ß
	Constant	1.01	0.03	
	Baseline PDA [†]	0.22	0.04	0.19**
PDA^{\dagger} (n = 741)	WAI Discrepancy	0.00	0.00	-0.01
(11 / 11)	Adjusted R ²	.035		
	F	14.25***		
	Constant	0.84	0.23	
	Baseline DDD [†]	0.37	0.06	0.22**
DDD^{\dagger} (n = 736)	WAI Discrepancy	-0.00	0.00	-0.02
(11 (150)	Adjusted R ²	.048		
	F	19.36***		
	Constant	5.87	2.37	
	Baseline DrInC	0.42	0.04	0.36**
DrInC (n = 706)	WAI Discrepancy	-0.04	0.04	-0.03
(11 /00)	Adjusted R ²	.127		
	F	52.28***		
	Constant	12.13	0.54	
	Baseline PDA [†]	0.02	0.32	0.00
	Baseline DDD [†]	-0.23	0.15	-0.06
Tx Weeks $(n = 731)4$	Baseline DrInC	-0.02	0.01	-0.11*
(1 /51)1	WAI Discrepancy	-0.00	0.01	-0.02
	Adjusted R ²	.017		
	F	4.14***		

NOTE: Drinking behavior (PDA = percent days abstinent; DDD = drinks per drinking day) was measured using the Form 90 interview procedure (Miller, 1996). Alcohol-related Problems was assessed using the Drinker's Inventory of Negative Consequences instrument (DrInC; Miller et al., 1995). Treatment participation (Tx Weeks) was measured by calculating the number of weeks spanning the first and last treatment session that patients attended. Working alliance was measured using the Working Alliance Inventory (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1989). WAI Discrepancy was calculated as the absolute value of a difference score derived by subtracting the participant WAI total score from their respective therapist's WAI total score.

[†] The drinking variables (PDA and DDD) measured at baseline and 3-months were transformed before conducting regressions. PDA was subjected to an arcsin transformation, and DDD was subjected to a square root transformation.

*p < .01; **p < .01; *** p < .001

Table 4

Means, Standard Deviations, and n for Drinking Behavior, Related Problems, and Treatment Participation, as a Function of Levels of Therapist Alliance and Levels of Patient Alliance, Using Baseline Measures as Covariates

		Patient WAI [†]							
	Theranist	Low		High			Total		
	WAI [†]	М	SD	п	М	SD	п	М	SD
	Low	0.79	0.27	212	0.81	0.26	159	0.80	0.27
PDA $(n = 741)$	High	0.82	0.25	159	0.88	0.21	211	0.85	0.23
(11 / 11)	Total	0.81	0.26	371	0.85	0.24	370	0.83	0.25
DDD (n = 736)	Low	7.47	7.42	209	6.86	6.79	159	7.21	7.15
	High	6.98	7.33	158	5.39	6.60	210	6.07	6.96
	Total	7.26	7.38	367	6.02	6.71	369	6.64	7.08
	Low	26.44	26.45	204	24.01	24.99	153	25.40	25.83
DrInC (n = 706)	High	27.06	26.55	152	19.14	23.78	197	22.59	25.30
(11 /00)	Total	26.71	26.46	356	21.27	24.40	350	24.01	25.59
Tx Weeks (n = 731)	Low	10.00	3.60	209	10.47	3.32	158	10.20	3.49
	High	10.75	3.09	157	10.89	2.91	207	10.83	2.99
	Total	10.33	3.41	366	10.71	3.10	365	10.52	3.26

NOTE: Drinking behavior (PDA = percent days abstinent; DDD = drinks per drinking day) was measured using the Form 90 interview procedure (Miller, 1996). Alcohol-related Problems was assessed using the Drinker's Inventory of Negative Consequences instrument (DrInC; Miller et al., 1995). Treatment participation (Tx Weeks) was measured by calculating the number of weeks spanning the first and last treatment session that patients attended. Working alliance was measured using the Working Alliance Inventory (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1989). WAI Discrepancy was calculated as the absolute value of a difference score derived by subtracting the participant WAI total score from their respective therapist's WAI total score.

[†] Therapist and patient alliance levels were determined via median-split dichotomization of WAI scores provided by clients and therapists at the second session. Alliance levels were dummy coded as 1 for all scores below the median, and dummy coded as 2 for all scores above the median.

Table 5

Analyses of Covariance (ANCOVA) for Drinking Behavior, Related Problems, and Treatment Participation as a Function of Levels of Therapist Alliance and Levels of Patient Alliance, Using Baseline Measures as Covariates

	Variable and Source	df	MS	F	р
	Therapist Alliance Level [†]	1	1.69	9.69	.002**
	Patient Alliance Level [†]	1	0.90	5.19	.023*
PDA*	Therapist x Patient	1	0.19	1.07	.302
	Error	736	0.17		
	Therapist Alliance Level [†]	1	9.99	4.70	.031*
	Patient Alliance Level [†]	1	15.40	7.24	.007**
DDD‡	Therapist x Patient	1	2.65	1.24	.265
	Error	731	2.13		
	Therapist Alliance Level [†]	1	1263.71	2.25	.134
DIC	Patient Alliance Level [†]	1	5382.02	9.58	.002**
DrinC	Therapist x Patient	1	800.25	1.42	.233
	Error	701	562.08		
Tx Weeks	Therapist Alliance Level [†]	1	66.31	6.41	.012*
	Patient Alliance Level [†]	1	19.31	1.87	.172
	Therapist x Patient	1	7.24	0.70	.403
	Error	724	10.35		

NOTE: Drinking behavior (PDA = percent days abstinent; DDD = drinks per drinking day) was measured using the Form 90 interview procedure (Miller, 1996). Alcohol-related Problems was assessed using the Drinker's Inventory of Negative Consequences instrument (DrInC; Miller et al., 1995). Treatment participation (Tx Weeks) was measured by calculating the number of weeks spanning the first and last treatment session that patients attended. Working alliance was measured using the Working Alliance Inventory (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1989). WAI Discrepancy was calculated as the absolute value of a difference score derived by subtracting the participant WAI total score from their respective therapist's WAI total score.

[†] Therapist and patient alliance levels were determined via median-split dichotomization of WAI scores provided by clients and therapists at the second session. Alliance levels were dummy coded as 1 for all scores below the median, and dummy coded as 2 for all scores above the median.

[‡] The drinking variables (PDA and DDD) measured at baseline and 3-months were transformed before conducting regressions. PDA was subjected to an arcsin transformation, and DDD was subjected to a square root transformation.

*p < .05; **p < .01

		Therapist Evalua	tion of Alliance
		High	Low
Patient Evaluations of Alliance	High	Congruent (high)	Discrepant (patient high, therapist low)
	Low	Discrepant (patient low, therapist high)	Congruent (low)

Figures

Figure 1. Median split working alliance congruence groups